Case 2021AP000843

FILED 05-31-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN**

SUPREME COURT

Filed 05-31-2023

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case Nos. 2021AP000843-CR, 2021AP000844-CR & 2021AP000845-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN M. NELSON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSEPH N. EHMANN Regional Attorney Manager-Madison Appellate State Bar No. 1016411

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8388 ehmannj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUE PRESENTED

When the government seeks to curtail a person's liberty and impose an enhanced penalty on the basis of a repeater allegation, does the government have to identify the crime upon which repeater allegation is based, or is it sufficient to identify a crime for which the defendant was not charged or convicted?

The circuit court ruled: the allegation in the complaint, information, and plea colloquy that Mr. Nelson "is a repeater, having been convicted of possession of methamphetamine in Barron County case 17-CF-307, on November 15, 2017," is a sufficient basis to impose an enhanced repeater sentence, even though Nelson was not charged with or convicted of that crime in that case, but was instead convicted of unlawful possession of a weapon by a felon. (1:1, 12:1, 55:1) (App. 16, 39, 43).

The court of appeals ruled: the "circumstances [here] are similar to those in *Stynes*" wherein this court upheld a repeater sentence "when the repeater allegation in the complaint misstated the date of convictions by one calendar day," and affirmed Mr. Nelson's repeater sentence. (COA opinion ¶ 16) (App. 10).

 $^{^1}$ State v. Stynes, 2003 WI 65, 262 Wis. 2d 335, 665 N.W.2d 115.

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

This court should grant review to clarify and harmonize the law regarding what the state must allege and prove before a court can impose an enhanced penalty based upon repeater status. The law is seemingly clear that before a court can impose an enhanced repeater sentence, the state must "allege in the complaint, indictment or information," or get the defendant to admit, the qualifying conviction "before acceptance of any plea." Wis. Stat. § 973.12(1). A repeater allegation must "identify the repeater offense, the date of conviction for that offense, and the nature of the offense—whether for a felony or misdemeanor conviction." State v. Gerard, 189 Wis. 2d 505, 515-16, 525 N.W.2d 718 (1995). In State v. Stynes, 262 Wis. 2d 335, this court declined to extend or adopt a strict bright-line rule, and ruled misstating the date of conviction by one calendar day does not render a repeater sentence invalid. This court should accept review to establish reasonable, common-sense due process guardrails for lower courts, clarifying or limiting the reach of Stynes to de minimis or scrivener errors, and hold a repeater allegation made in the complaint, information, and during the plea colloquy for a crime or conviction that does not exist is beyond a bridge too far, and is insufficient to establish or uphold a repeater sentence.

Case 2021AP000843

Filed 05-31-2023

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 20, 2019, in Barron County case 19-CF-197, the state charged Mr. Nelson by complaint with one count of possession of methamphetamine, as a repeater, possession of cocaine and possession of THC. (1:1-2). Specifically, with respect to repeater enhancement the complaint alleges "because the defendant is a repeater, having been convicted of Possession of Methamphetamine in Barron County 17-CF-307 on November 15, 2017," the maximum term of imprisonment upon conviction can be increased by two years if the prior was a misdemeanor and four years if a felony. (1:1) (App. 39). On August 6, 2019, the complaint was supplanted by an Information charging the identical offense, with the identical repeater claim—a prior conviction for possession of methamphetamine in Barron County case 17-CF-307, on November 15, 2017. (12:1) (App. 43).

On November 8, 2019, Mr. Nelson pleaded guilty to count 1, possession of methamphetamine, with the other two counts dismissed but read in. (58:3). During the plea colloquy, the following exchange occurred:

> THE COURT: And do you acknowledge that you have previously been convicted of Possession of Methamphetamine, in Barron County Case 17-CF-307, on November 15th, 2017?

> > THE DEFENDANT: Uh, yes, Your Honor.

(58:4).

Twice more during the plea hearing the court referenced a prior drug conviction as the basis for the repeater enhancement. The court told Mr. Nelson regarding the repeater:

THE COURT: ... They [the state] would have to prove to the Court that you were indeed previously convicted of this felony-level drug offense, and that that record still remains of record and is unreversed. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE COURT: And you have previously acknowledged your prior conviction occurring for Possession of Methamphetamine. Is that true?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

(58:7, 10).

On January 16, 2020, the court withheld sentence and placed Mr. Nelson on probation for three years. Thereafter, Mr. Nelson's probation was revoked in 19-CF-197, and in two other Barron County cases, 17-CF-256 (unlawful possession of a weapon by a felon) and 17-CF-307 (unlawful possession of a weapon by a felon).

On June 30, 2020, for Mr. Nelson's 19-CF-197 drug conviction the court imposed a repeaterenhanced sentence of three years initial confinement and two years of extended supervision, to be served consecutively to concurrent eight-year terms (four years IC and four years ES), imposed in 17-CF-256 and 17-CF-307 (the erroneously-referenced repeater case).²

Mr. Nelson timely filed notices of intent to pursue postconviction relief and requested public defender representation. At the postconviction stage Mr. Nelson argued the repeater enhancement based upon the state's allegation that Nelson, in Barron County case 17-CF-307, was convicted of possession of methamphetamine, was invalid because no such charge or conviction for that crime exists. (41:2). The state argued on the basis of State v. Stynes, 2003 WI 65, 262 Wis. 2d 335, 665 N.W.2d 115, the repeater sentence was valid. (63:4-5). The circuit court ruled the sentence valid based on Mr. Nelson's erroneous admission he had been convicted, when he had not, of the drug possession charge alleged as a basis for the repeater, and he had been convicted of a different crime not alleged in the complaint, information or plea colloguy. (63:11-12) (App. 16, 27-28).

The court of appeals ruled the "circumstances [here] are similar to those in *Stynes*," wherein this court upheld a repeater sentence "when the repeater allegation in the complaint misstated the date of convictions by one calendar day," and it affirmed the repeater sentence here. (COA opinion ¶ 16) (App. 10).

Mr. Nelson now seeks review in this court.

² The maximum penalty for a Class I felony without a repeater enhancement is 3 ½ years. Wis. Stat. § 939.50(3)(i).

ARGUMENT

The repeater-enhanced portion of a repeater sentence that is based upon an allegation of, or admission to, a crime or conviction that does not exist, is invalid and must be vacated.

The state when charging Mr. Nelson in 19-CF-197 with possession of methamphetamine invoked the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b), and alleged "because the defendant is a repeater, having been convicted of Possession of Methamphetamine in Barron County 17-CF-307 on November 15, 2017," Nelson was subject to an enhanced repeater penalty. (1:1; 12:1) (App 39, 43). On that basis, at sentencing the court imposed a repeater-enhanced sentence. However, because the repeater allegation the state identified or noticed in its charging documents and referenced during Mr. Nelson's plea hearing was for a crime or conviction that does not exist, the repeater aspect of Mr. Nelson's sentence is invalid and must be vacated.

When the state in its charging documents seeks to have a court impose a repeater-enhanced penalty pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b), Wis. Stat.

Case 2021AP000843

Filed 05-31-2023

§ 973.12(1) requires that the state allege the predicate conviction within the charging document "before or at arraignment, and before acceptance of any plea." This court for purposes of satisfying due process concerns established a repeater allegation must "identify the repeater offense, the date of conviction for that offense, and the nature of the offense—whether for a felony or misdemeanor conviction." State v. Gerard, 189 Wis. 2d 505, 515-16, 525 N.W.2d 718 (1995). Later, in State v. Stynes, 2003 WI 65, 262 Wis. 2d 335, 665 N.W.2d 115, this court declined to adopt a brightline rule, and held that where the repeater allegation in the complaint misstated the date of the convictions by one calendar day for "convictions that actually existed," notice was sufficient and no due process error occurred. Stynes, id. at ¶¶ 2, 28.

The state here sought to obtain a repeaterenhanced penalty alleging in its complaint, that Mr. Nelson, "having been convicted of Possession of Methamphetamine in Barron County 17-CF-307 on November 15, 2017," was a repeater. (1:1) (App. 39). The state alleged the same qualifying offense "Possession of Methamphetamine in Barron County 17-CF-307 on November 15, 2017," in the information it filed which supplanted the complaint. (12:1) (App. 43). The only qualifying conviction referenced during the plea colloquy during which Mr. Nelson accepted responsibility for his current possession offense, was the prior drug possession offense, which did not exist. While Mr. Nelson did have prior convictions, which if alleged and proven could have formed the basis for a repeater charge, he had no prior

conviction in Barron County case 17-CF-307 for possession of methamphetamine.

The court of appeals ruling here that "[t]he circumstances of this case are similar to those in Stynes," is simply wrong, and underscores why this court should accept review to establish due process guidelines or boundaries for lower courts. Alleging as a basis for a repeater sentence a crime or conviction that does not exist is qualitatively different from alleging a prior conviction that actually exists, but being off on the date of conviction by one calendar day. Though not expressly stated, and needs to be now, the import of Stynes was or should have been that a scrivener or de minimis error (e.g. a spelling error such as alleging the county of conviction as Baron County instead of Barron or, as actually occurred in Stynes, mistyping the date of conviction by one day), does not establish a lack of the notice component necessary satisfy due process, and does not invalidate an otherwise proper repeater sentence. The state alleging as a basis for an enhanced penalty a prior possession of methamphetamine conviction where no such conviction exists, cannot be saved by the state later, long after the fact, establishing Mr. Nelson had a prior for possession of a weapon by a felon.

If the state and court of appeals are correct here, then it would seem the state for repeater purposes could have alleged Mr. Nelson to have been guilty of kidnapping the Lindbergh baby, or not listed any specific crime at all, and still have obtained a repeater sentence based upon an after-the-fact showing of a crime of conviction not alleged in the charging documents or presented prior to the plea. To be clear, Mr. Nelson is not disputing the state is entitled to its punishment in imposing a sentence within the standard range established by the legislature for the crime to which Mr. Nelson pled guilty. What is at stake is whether the state can exact or impose and enhanced punishment on Nelson based upon a repeater allegation it brought for a crime or conviction that does not exist. This type of close-enough-for-governmentwork prosecution argument or lower court ruling in imposing and affirming an enhanced sentence based upon a conviction that does not exist subverts the notice component necessary to satisfy due process, undermines or breeds disrespect for the criminal justice system, and undermines confidence in notions of fair play or equal treatment for the people—i.e. the rules or laws apply to the people whose liberty the government seeks to curtail by means of a criminal prosecution, but not to the government or its prosecutors in that prosecution.

To be clear, again, what is at stake here is not Mr. Nelson disputing his conviction for the crime to which he pled guilty, or a sentence imposed within the normal range the legislature established for that crime. What is at stake is whether the government can obtain an enhanced penalty based upon an allegation of a prior conviction for a crime that does not exist. The state failed to allege and prove a prior qualifying crime of conviction that actually existed at a time the law required it to do so. Consequently, the repeater-enhanced portion of the sentence imposed on

Mr. Nelson is or should be invalid and must be vacated.

CONCLUSION

For the above-stated reasons, Mr. Nelson asks that this court grant review to establish reasonable, common sense due process guidelines when the state seeks to have a court impose a repeater-enhanced sentence, and to hold the repeater sentence imposed on Mr. Nelson based upon the state's allegation of a prior conviction that does not exist is invalid and must be reversed or vacated.