Filed 06-27-2023

### FILED 06-27-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### IN SUPREME COURT

Nos. 2021AP843-CR; 2021AP844-CR & 2021AP845-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN M. NELSON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

### **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER L. VANDERMEUSE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1070979

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1740 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) vandermeusejl@doj.state.wi.us

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE	
PETITION FOR REVIEW BECAUSE	
IT DOES NOT SATISFY THE CRITERIA	
IN WIS. STAT. § (RULE) 809.62(1r)	3
CONCLUSION	

The State of Wisconsin opposes Steven M. Nelson's petition for review. The court of appeals' unpublished, authored decision concerns a fact-specific issue that is not likely to recur, and was merely an application of well-settled precedent to the facts. *State v. Nelson*, Nos. 2021AP843-CR; 2021AP844-CR; 2021AP845-CR, 2023 WL 2770178 (Wis. Ct. App. April 4, 2023) (unpublished) (Pet-App. 3–15). Because the criteria for review are not satisfied, there is no compelling reason to disturb the court of appeals' decision.

## THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW BECAUSE IT DOES NOT SATISFY THE CRITERIA IN WIS. STAT. § (RULE) 809.62(1r)

Under Wisconsin law, a criminal defendant may be subject to a longer sentence if he is a "repeater," that is, if he has a prior felony conviction in the five years immediately preceding the crime for which he is being sentenced. *State v. Stynes*, 2003 WI 65, ¶ 13, 262 Wis. 2d 335, 665 N.W.2d 115; Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1). The State must give the defendant notice of the prior conviction upon which a repeater enhancement is based, so the defendant understands the potential extent of his sentence before pleading. *Stynes*, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 10; Wis. Stat. § 973.12(1).

Case law governs "the minimum level of specificity required of a repeater allegation." *Stynes*, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 14. At a minimum, a repeater allegation should identify the repeater offense, the date of conviction for that offense, and the nature of the offense—whether for a felony or misdemeanor conviction. *Id.* ¶ 15.

These well-settled principles were applied to the facts of this case. Nelson was charged with possession of methamphetamine as a repeater in 2019. *Nelson*, 2023 WL 2770178, ¶ 3. In support of the repeater allegation, the complaint's probable cause section correctly stated that Nelson was convicted of a felony charge of possession of a firearm in Barron County case no. 2017CF307 2017. *Id.* ¶¶ 4– 5. However, the complaint's charging language incorrectly stated that Nelson was a repeater because he was convicted of possession of methamphetamine in 2017. *Id.* ¶¶ 4–5. The information contained the same error as the complaint. *Id.* ¶ 5. Nelson and his counsel did not dispute the accuracy of the complaint or the information.

Nelson pleaded guilty to possession of methamphetamine as a repeater. *Id.* ¶ 6. Nelson acknowledged the repeater allegation at the plea hearing, and neither the court nor the parties caught the error regarding the nature of the repeater conviction as alleged in the information. *Id.* Nelson's guilty plea was accepted.

The court withheld sentence and placed Nelson on probation. *Id.* ¶ 6. His probation was later revoked. *Id.* ¶ 7. At the revocation hearing, both the prosecutor and the court correctly observed that Nelson's prior conviction involved a firearm, and the paperwork filed with the revocation warrant accurately described Nelson's prior conviction. *Id.* The court imposed sentences on Nelson's various cases, and recognized that he was a repeater. *Id.* ¶ 8.

Nelson moved to void the repeater portion of his sentence, asserting that the complaint and information inaccurately described his underlying conviction. *Id.* ¶ 9. "The court denied Nelson's motion, concluding there was 'sufficient notice' of the repeater allegation and that the record supported the allegation." *Id.* 

Nelson appealed, and the court of appeals affirmed, relying primarily on relevant sentencing statutes and this Court's reasoning in *Stynes*. *Id.* ¶¶ 15–16. Although the complaint's charging language misstated the description of Nelson's repeater offense, "the remaining information about the conviction unambiguously described one of Nelson's actual convictions—possession of a firearm as a convicted felon." *Id.* 

Filed 06-27-2023

¶ 15. Further, the probable cause portion of the complaint accurately confirmed "what the charging language already communicated." *Id.* Given the facts, the State's repeater allegation satisfied the notice requirement in Wis. Stat. § 973.12(1). *Nelson*, 2023 WL 2770178, ¶ 15.

Nelson's petition does not present a valid reason to disturb the court of appeals' decision. This Court has already held that, while the State must plead the repeater allegation "with relative clarity and precision," *Stynes*, 262 Wis. 2d 335,  $\P$  15 (citation omitted), this requirement does not mandate perfection. In Stynes, there was no question that the State intended to refer to Stynes' convictions that actually existed, notwithstanding the error in the date. Id. ¶ 28. "The fact that the convictions existed [was] apparent because the complaint described the offenses, stated the correct county of conviction, cited the case number, and included a date of the convictions that was misstated by only one calendar day." Id. Because Stynes was informed of his repeater status and the case involved "an error that did not affect Stynes' ability to assess meaningfully the extent of the punishment at the time he pleaded to the charges," the complaint provided Stynes with the required notice of the predicate convictions on which his repeater status was based. Id. ¶ 32; see also Id. ¶¶ 29–34.

Here, the court of appeals simply applied the facts to *Styne*'s rationale. *Nelson*, 2023 WL 2770178, ¶¶ 16–17. Nelson's complaint and information were sufficient to put him on notice of the prior conviction that formed the basis of the repeater allegation. *Id.* ¶ 17.

There is no dispute that Nelson had an existing prior conviction of felon in possession of a firearm in Barron County Case No. 2017CF307, dated November 15, 2017. Consistent with *Stynes*, the complaint and information correctly listed the county of conviction, cited the correct case number, and stated the correct date of the conviction. In one place on the complaint, the correct name of the prior conviction was stated,

Filed 06-27-2023

but a different page stated the wrong name of the conviction, as did the information. Like *Stynes*, the complaint and information show that the State intended to refer to Nelson's existing 2017 conviction of felon in possession of a firearm in Barron County. *Stynes*, 262 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 28.

Because the court of appeals' decision amounts to a mere application of well-settled principles to the factual situation, it does not merit this Court's review. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)1.

Nelson argues that this Court should grant review "to clarify and harmonize the law regarding what the state must allege and prove before a court can impose an enhanced penalty." (Pet. 4.) He argues that this Court should "clarify[] or limit ] the reach of *Stynes* to de minimis or scrivener errors." (Pet. 4.) It is unclear how taking this case would clarify anything. As shown in *Stynes'* reasoning, Wisconsin law does not embrace a bright light rule regarding perfection in a repeater allegation, and for good reason. Different facts will inform whether a defendant is sufficiently put on notice as to the basis of a repeater allegation. Nelson, 2023 WL 2770178, ¶ 19. Stynes and its progeny provide proper guidance regarding the minimal information necessary for a repeater allegation to be sufficiently established. Limiting Stynes in the way Nelson suggests would focus litigants and lower courts on what constitutes a scriveners or de minimis error. Such an approach would only muddy the waters, because it would remove the focus from whether proper statutory notice was accomplished.

In reality, Nelson's true complaint seems to be that the court of appeals misapplied settled precedent. (Pet. 10 (arguing that the court of appeals' ruling that the facts of this case are similar to *Stynes* is "simply wrong.")) He provides no good reason for disturbing *Stynes* or other settled precedent.

Nelson also argues that the repeater allegation in this case was based on a crime that did not exist, which is not accurate. (Pet. 4, 8.) It is indisputable that the repeater allegations were based on one of Nelson's prior convictions that actually existed, namely, his conviction for possession of a firearm as a convicted felon in 2017. *Nelson*, 2023 WL 2770178, ¶ 20. All of the essential information that *Stynes* requires was included in the complaint. The fact that there was an error in the name of the prior conviction in another part of the complaint (and the information) did not negate that he had a valid prior conviction that qualified.

Nelson asserts that if the court of appeals' reasoning was correct, then the State for repeater purposes could have alleged Nelson "guilty of kidnapping the Lindbergh baby, or not listed any specific crime at all." (Pet. 10.) This hyperbole reflects a flawed reading of the court of appeals' carefully reasoned decision, which was grounded in the factual indicia of sufficient notice:

the repeater allegations in the complaint and in the Information were based on one of Nelson's prior convictions that actually existed—i.e., his Barron County conviction on November 15, 2017, for possession of a firearm as a convicted felon. The case number, date of conviction, and county of conviction all suggested that the State would use that particular conviction to establish Nelson's repeater status. Further, the probable cause portion of the complaint correctly described Nelson's repeater offense. Nelson's repeater status was therefore based on a conviction that did exist and was accurately described in a portion of the complaint.

Nelson, 2023 WL 2770178, ¶ 20. Nelson does not explain how this reasoning would logically extend to the outlandish hypothetical he poses.

Nelson's flawed arguments aside, his petition does not meet this Court's criteria for review. For the reasons explained, the court of appeals' decision creates no conflict or need for this Court to clarify the law. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c). Nelson's petition does not demonstrate a need for this Court to "consider establishing, implementing or changing a policy within its authority." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(b). Similarly, Nelson's petition does not demonstrate a need to reexamine current law. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(e). Finally, Nelson's petition presents no significant question of state or federal constitutional law. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a).

### CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Nelson's petition for review.